**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

RECEIVED

HON. EDGAR W. DICKSON, JUDGE

JUL 13 2020

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001676

SC Court of Appeals

Charles E. Houston Jr

Appellant

V.

Dean B. Bell, individually,
The Law Offices of Dean B. Bell, LLC and
B. Hammel Properties, LLC

Respondents

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Charles E. Houston Jr.

Charles E. Houston Jr.
100 Shady Brooke Walk
Fayetteville, Georgia 30214

Appellant, *Pro Se*

June 26, 2020

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I

Did the court err, in ruling that cause of action in a collateral attack proceeding to set aside an order as void upon its face is subject to the affirmative defenses of estoppel, statute of limitations and laches?

II

Did the court err, by abusing its discretion, by awarding summary judgment not applying the correct standards in dismissing plaintiff's cause of action for extrinsic fraud brought under SCRCP, Rule 60(b) (4) and (5); upon the grounds of the affirmative defenses of estoppel, statute of limitations and laches by not applying the date the tenancy in common was dissolved, the "discovery rule" and the standard of reasonableness.

III

Did the trial court abuse its discretion as a matter of law by not properly applying the standards under South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 60 (b) (4) and (5) when it ruled that plaintiff's cause of action for extrinsic fraud did not present a triable issue?

IV

Did the Court err by abusing its discretion by awarding summary judgment to the defendants upon plaintiff's cause of action for extrinsic fraud when there was factual support in the record establishing each element of this cause of action.

V

Is the Order of the Master in Equity in the partition action void as exceeding the subject matter jurisdiction of the court as conferred by the applicable state statutes?

VI

Is the Order of the Master in Equity in the partition action void as its' provisions disenfranchises plaintiff's fundamental property rights as protected under the constitutional provisions and guarantees of Amendment 14 of Article 1 Section 3 of the United States Constitutions and Article 1 Section 3 of the Constitution of South Carolina?

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action(*Case # 2018-CP-07-01559*) was commenced by the filing of the Lis Pendens, Summons and Complaint (*R. pp 49-63*) on July 31, 2018.(Plaintiff's Motion to add a Party Defendant was filed on February 12, 2019 and Motion to Compel to the Defendant Bell and the Bell law firm on May 9, 2019. Defendant B. Hammel Properties, LLC filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on February 13, 2019 (*R. pp 50-51*) and Defendant Dean B. Bell, individually and as attorney for the Bell Law firm filed a joint Motion for Summary Judgment on April 3, 2019. (*R. pp 49-50*) Both Motions for Summary Judgment was heard on June 10,2019.(*R. pp.67-108*) The Court's orders granting summary judgment to the defendant B. Hammel Properties (*R. pp. 1-10*)and to the defendant Bell and the Bell Law Firm (*R. pp 11-21*)were filed on September 4, 2019 and served on September 5, 2019 and received on September 9, 20219. The plaintiff filed and served his Notice of Appeal on October 3, 2019.

The partition proceeding *Cornelia H. Hall et. al. v. Charles E. Houston Jr.*(*Case # 2011-CP-07-05141*) was commenced by the filing of the Lis Pendens, Summons and Complaint on December 7, 2011.(*R. pp 169-172*) The defendant filed a Notice of Appearance on January 11, 2012 and his Answer on February 14, 2012. Plaintiff filed their Motion for Summary Judgment and for Reference on

June 4, 2012 (*R. pp. 167-168*) and was heard on August 10, 2012. Defendant moved in open court to have the case dismissed. An Order of Reference and for the Complaint to be amended was filed on September 30, 2012. (*R. pp 161-162*) An "Amended Complaint" (*R. pp 173-176*) according to the Clerk of Courts Public Index (*R. pp 182-184*) was never filed with the court but was served upon the defendant who filed and served his answer on November 20, 2012. A hearing was held before the Master in Equity on May 22, 2013. A Final Order of the Master-in Equity was filed on July 19, 2013. (*R. pp 153-158*) The Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration was filed on July 30, 2013 (*R. pp 163-166*) and denied by Order of the Master in Equity on September 10, 2013. (*R. pp 159-160*) the Defendant filed his notice of Appeal on September 11, 2013 and a Remittitur from the Court of appeals was filed on March 12, 2014. The property was sold on June 24, 2015 (*R deed pp 179-181*) and a memorandum Order ending the case was filed by the Master in Equity on July 22, 2015. (*R. pp 159-160*)

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

FACTS

This action in the nature of a declaratory action to quiet title to real property is Plaintiff's collateral attack on a decision entered in a separate partition action In the matter styled *Cornelia H. Hall, et al v. Charles E. Houston, Jr.*, Civil Action Number 2011-CP-07-05141 (the "Partition Action") the Plaintiff Charles E. Houston's ("Houston") sisters secured an order that partitioned, by private sale, real property on Hilton Head Island. The order for partition directed the private marketing and sale of the real property. The Hammel Properties, LLC purchased the property through the process identified in the partition order

In his complaint, Houston alleges 1) that the Master in Equity in the Partition Action lacked jurisdiction in the absence of an Order of Reference. 2) That the Master in Equity's decision in the Partition Action, was contrary to previous rulings entered by the Circuit Court from the Bench 3) The relief awarded in the Partition Action was beyond and in excess of the subject matter jurisdictional authority of the Master in Equity to award. and 4) The decision in the Partition Action violated the Houston's Federal and State Constitutional rights. 5) (Additionally, Houston sought to have the Master in Equity's Order set aside as procured by extrinsic fraud committed by plaintiff's counsel and his law firm.

Upon these allegations, Houston requests that this Court set aside the transfer of his one fourth interest in the real property that passed to the Defendant through the partition process and award Houston damages for the wrongfully taking that property from him.

The defendants answered denying the substantive allegations and afterwards each filed their Motion for Summary Judgment which was granted by the Court. From this judgment the Plaintiff filed an appeal to this Court.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The defendants have presented this case in the posture of a motion for summary judgment; thus, it is governed by South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 56(c) SCRPC . Under Rule 56(c), the party seeking summary judgment has the initial responsibility of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact." Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991)

Once the moving party carries its initial burden, the opposing party must, by affidavit or otherwise, set forth specific facts to show that there is a genuine issue for trial. Id.; Rule 56(e), SCRPC. In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr., 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006). In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment. Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). Moreover, because summary judgment is a drastic remedy, it should be cautiously invoked to ensure a litigant is not improperly deprived

of a trial on disputed factual issues. Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc., 371 S.C. 123, 134, 638 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2006).

When a circuit court grants summary judgment on a question of law, this court will review the ruling de novo." Wright v. PRG Real Estate Mgmt., Inc., 426 C. 202, 212, 826 S.E.2d 285, 290 (2019).

When the trial judge is vested with discretion, but his ruling reveals no discretion was, in fact, exercised, an error of law has occurred." Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987); see also In re Robert M., 294 S.C. 69, 70-71, 362 S.E.2d 639, 640-41 (1987); State v. Smith, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981).

ARGUMENT 1

The Court erred in ruling that the plaintiff's causes of action were timed barred by estoppel, laches and the statute of limitations.

The action below is a declaratory action seeking to quieting the title to the plaintiff's fee simple title to one fourth undivided interest in the property subject to this action as a tenant in common. The impediment or cloud upon his title is a warranty deed (*R. pp 179-181*) made from Cornelia H. Hall to B. Hammel Properties , LLC on June 23, 2013 pursuant to the purported authority granted to her by an Order (*R. pp 153-158*) issued by the Master in-Equity on July 15, 201 in Partition Action (*2011 -CP -07 05141*). This order ruled for the property to be sold by private sale and further provided that Cornelia H. Hall, a sibling, and the partitioning plaintiff, be granted the sole authority, without requiring further judicial review, to determine the purchase price of the property and further forbidding the Appellant herein from participating in any manner pertaining to the sale of his interest in the property. The Appellant, in the action herein, seeks to vacate this judgment asserting that this order is void on its face (see argument IV and V *infra*) as it exceeds beyond the subject matter jurisdiction granted by statute to the Master-in -Equity.

The trial judge did not, in his order, reach or touch upon the issue of the validity of the order (*R. pp 153-158*) when he dismissed the claim on the grounds of laches or lack of timeliness in the claim being brought. When the trial judge is vested with discretion, but his ruling reveals no discretion was, in fact, exercised, an error of law has occurred." Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987); see also In re Robert M., 294 S.C. 69, 70-71, 362 S.E.2d 639, 640-41 (1987); State v. Smith, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981). This issue though is a jurisdictional one and may be raised for the first time even upon an appeal.

It is a long-standing legal axiom that an order void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction is void *ab initio*. The doctrine of laches is an equity concept and is invoked when two essential elements exist: 1) a delay (2) that is inexcusable or unreasonable in instituting suit, and (3) prejudice resulting to the defendant from such delay. Robinson v. Estate of Harris 388 S.C.616, 686 S.E.2d 214 (S. Ct. 2010.) None of these elements were established by affidavits in support of the defendants' motion for Summary Judgment. Nevertheless, in the Robinson case, where laches was successful pleaded as a defense to set aside a judgment, it was upon a finding of a delay for 39 years. More particularly, it was imposed where the plaintiff had moved to set aside a prior judgment on the grounds of extrinsic fraud where the three (3)

years Statute of Limitations under §15-67-90 Code of Laws of South Carolina was invoked. The Appellants cause of *action* herein to set aside the prior judgment stands upon a separate superseding footing; a judgment void on its face.

Though there are no reported cases in South Carolina that has addressed this point it has been well established and consistently upheld and adhered to in every jurisdiction when the issue has been presented that the affirmative defenses of laches, estoppel, waiver, bona fide purchaser for value, res judicata, collateral estoppel and the otherwise relevant statute of limitations do not apply to and action to set aside a judgment void on its face that may be collaterally attacked at any time. See 49 C.J.S. Judgments 710 (2020, Peet v. Peet 16 Va. App 323, 429 S.E.2d 487(1993) ruling that although, generally, judgment must be challenged on direct appeal rather than attacked collaterally, void judgment maybe assailed at any time by direct or collateral attack. Subsequent cases citing Peet are Hazraty v Hazraty 2007 WL 3052550 Va. Cir. Ct. and Ononuju v. Virginia Housing Development Authority 2019 WL 6468617. Also, Hill v. Walker 297 KY.257, 180 S.W. 2d. 93, 154 ALR 814 citing Brown v. Administrator 232Ky. 336 23 S.W. 2d 551 holding that a void judgment is no judgment at all, and no rights are acquired by virtue of its entry of record. A court may, in a proper proceeding vacate it at any time, the lapse of time is no bar to such

relief, citing Brown's Administrator v. Gabhart 232 Ky.336, 22 S.W.2d 551; Johnson v. Carroll, 190 Ky. 689, 228 S.W.412; Gardner v. Lincoln Bank & Trust Co., 251 Ky.109, 64 S.W.2d 497.

Additional authority is drawn from the California cases of Renoir v. Redstar 123 Cal, App.4th1145 (2004) where the court ruled "That a judgment or order that is invalid on the face of the record is subject to a collateral attack. It follows that it may be set aside on motion with no limit on the time within which the motion may be made".

Likewise, further authority is elicited from two cases decided in Illinois. In LVNV Funding, LLC v. Price 32 NE. 3rd 553 (2015) citing Sarkissian v. Chicago Board of Education, 201 Ill.2d 95, 104 (2002) ruled that when the trial court enters a void judgment, a party aggrieved by the judgment may attack it by motion without showing diligence. The rationale underlying this rule the court's opinion stated is "that the allegation that the judgment or order is void substitutes for and negates the need to allege a meritorious defense and due diligence".

It is well settled acceptable law for over 172 years that if a court is without authority its judgments and orders are regarded as nullities. They are not voidable , but simple void; and form no bar to a recovery sought, even prior to a reversal in opposition to them They constitute no justification ; and all persons concerned in executing such judgments are considered, in law, as trespassers. Elliot v. Piersol, 1 Pet 328, 34026

U.S. 328,340(1828). Likewise, in the case of *Reynolds v. Volunteer State life Ins, Co.*

Therefore, the Court below was in error in allowing the defendants defense of laches to apply to and excluding Appellant's claim that the Master-in Equity's order exceeded the statutory subject matter jurisdictional powers conferred upon a Master-in Equity court and a ruling "De Nova" may be made by this court on this point of law.

ARGUMENT 2

The trial court committed an abuse of discretion as a matter of law and erred in ruling that the Appellant's causes of action for extrinsic fraud was time barred by the affirmative defenses of the three years statute of limitations, estoppel and laches.

The court erred in the following particulars:

First: The Statute of Limitations would not begin to run until the dissolution of the tenancy -in- common held among the four siblings. (See *Les Pendens*) This occurred when the property was sold on June 23, 2015 and the deed recorded of record on July 17, 2015 . See *Knots v Joiner*, 217 S.C. 99, 59 S.E.2d 850 (S.Ct. 1950) (R. Deed pp 179-181)

Second: Under the Discovery Rule the statute of limitations would be extended until the time the Appellant knew or should have reasonably known that a cause of action had accrued.(*R. Depo. P. 192 L 17-20, P.194 L 8-14*)

Third: The collateral attack upon the judgment was brought under SCRPC, Rule 60(b) (4) and (5) where the required standard is a "reasonable time".

Fourth: There is no case law jurisprudence that has ever sanctioned the proposition or notion that the affirmative defenses of laches or estoppel or "reasonable time" would elapse or transpire prior to the running of the three years Statute of Limitations.

Fifth: The tenancy in common was dissolved by the recording of the deed on July 17, 2015 and this action was commenced by the filing of the summons and complaint on July 31, 2018

Sixth: That from July 17, 2015 to July 31, 2018 is a period of 3 years and 10 days.

Seven: At his deposition(R Depo. Houston, P 117 L 18)) Appellant testified that he was residing in Houston, Texas and it was not until weeks after the property had been sold when he came to check on his boat and automobile that had been stored on the property that he discovered them missing and when he reported this to the Sheriff Department he was told that the property had been sold. (*R. Depo. P.*

192 L 17-20 This would have been during August 2015 and within the statute of limitations period and within a reasonable time period. SCRCP, Rule 60(b)(5) applied in Lewis-Murray v. Murray 2005 WL 70084812. The court below exercised the incorrect standard as a matter of law and the period of over four hundred days found by the court is clearly erroneous as this court ruled in Perry v. Heirs at Law of Gadsden, 357 S.C. 42, 48, 590 S.E.2d 502, 505 (Ct.App.2003) that “Although motions under Rule 60(b)(5) are not subject to the requirement that they be filed within one year of the judgment, they still must be filed within a reasonable time. While we are reluctant to proclaim that four years is a per se unreasonable period of time,

With the statute of limitations shown to have been erroneously granted, Appellant will next address the court’s error in not finding a triable issue on plaintiff’s cause of action for extrinsic fraud,

ARGUMENT III

The Court abused its discretion and erred as a matter of law by improperly applying the proper and required standard for a Motion for summary judgment under SCRCP, Rule 60 (b) (4) and (5) as to plaintiff’s cause of action against the defendant Bell and his law firm.

The defendants presented their case in the posture of a motion for summary judgment; thus, it is governed by South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 56(c) SCRPC . This rule provides a motion for summary judgment shall be granted if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

Under Rule 56(c), the party seeking summary judgment has the initial responsibility of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact." Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). This initial responsibility may be discharged by pointing out to the trial court that there is an absence of evidence to support the non-moving party's case, and it is not necessary for the moving party to support its motion with affidavits or other similar materials negating the opponent's claim. *Id.* Once the moving party carries its initial burden, the opposing party must do more than rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings, but must, by affidavit or otherwise, set forth specific facts to show that there is a genuine issue for trial. *Id.*; Rule 56(e), SCRPC.

It appears from the court's order that once it had reached the impression that the plaintiff- appellant's causes of actions were time barred and therefore dispositive of the case the bulk of the order merely

recited conclusions of law. Additionally, the defendants-respondents' motion for summary judgment was open ended and broad applying to every allegation in the complaint without any direct specificity to any particular cause of action.

A factual issue is 'genuine if it is not capable of being conclusively foreclosed by reference to undisputed facts. Although there may be genuine disputes over certain facts, a fact is material when its existence facilitates the resolution of an issue in the case. Material facts tend to prove or disprove a disputed fact that is relevant to the outcome in a case.

In this action the plaintiff seeks to set aside the Order of Partition under SCRCP, Rule 60 (b) (4) and (5) ,on the grounds of extrinsic fraud committed by the defendant, Dean B. Bell and The Bell Law Firm. Fraud is generally defined as the intentional use of deceit, a trick or some dishonest means to deprive another of his/her/its money, property or a legal right. "Extrinsic fraud" is fraud that induces a person not to present a case or deprives a person of the opportunity to be heard. Relief from judgment is granted for extrinsic fraud on the theory that by reason of the fraud preventing a party from fully exhibiting and trying his case, there never has been a real contest before the court of the subject matter of the action or is fraud that induces one not to present a case

in court or deprives one of the opportunity to be heard or is not involved in the actual issues. Robinson

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