THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001676
Trial Court Case No. 2018-CP-07-1559

RECEIVED

Jul 06 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Charles E. Houston, Jr.Appellant,

v.

Dean B. Bell, individually;
Law Offices of Dean B. Bell, LLC; and
B. Hammel Properties, LLC, Respondents.

AMENDED
INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT B. HAMMEL PROPERTIES, LLC

July 6, 2020

W. Cliff Moore, III
Kirby D. Shealy, III
Adams and Reese LLP
Post Office Box 2285
Columbia, S.C. 29202
P: 803-254-4190
Thomas C. Taylor
Law Offices of Thomas C. Taylor, LLC
PO Box 5550
Hilton Head Island, SC 29938
P: 843-785-5050

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

Similarly, the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Robinson v. Estate of Harris*, 389 S.C. 360, 698 S.E.2d 801 (2010) determined that if a party can establish extrinsic fraud, the claim may be time barred under the doctrine of laches. *Robinson* involved an action filed in 2005 to quiet title to real property. The claim involved allegations that a deed to the property executed in 1946 and a quiet title action filed in 1966 were fraudulent. Among the defenses raised to the quiet title action were laches and the statute of limitations for challenging judgments quieting or determining title set out in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-67-90 (1976). Those advancing the claim argued that it was not barred by the cited statute of limitations because the 1966 quiet title action involved extrinsic fraud. The *Robinson* Court concluded that providing adequate evidence of extrinsic fraud was not

sufficient alone to withstand a summary judgment challenge when there is evidence of unreasonable delay that prejudices the adversary. *Id.* at 372, 698 S.E.2d at 807.

Therefore, even if Appellant were able to provide proof of extrinsic fraud, his claims must also withstand legitimate challenges based on Appellant's delay.

B. The Lower Court's use of the Partition Order date to measure Appellant's delay was appropriate.

In considering the Appellant's delay in asserting his claims, the Lower Court measured and considered Appellant's conduct from the date of the entry of the Remittitur of Partition Action, which ended the appeal of the Partition Order. [*Order Granting Summary Judgment to Hammel*, ¶ 35]. Appellant suggests that his delay in bringing the Complaint should only be considered from either (1) July 7, 2015, the date of the Partition Deed⁶; (2) July 22, 2015, the date of the filing of the Satisfaction of Judgment in the Partition Action; or (3) some date in August 2015 when Appellant discovered that the property had been sold.

Appellant challenges the Partition Order, which was the final judgment in the Partition Action. He does not challenge the Partition Deed or the Satisfaction of the Judgment. The deed and satisfaction are acts incident to the administration of the Partition Order and are of no consequence to the appropriate timing of the Appellant's challenge to the Partition Order. Further, the timing of Appellant's discovery of the Partition Deed has no bearing on when he should have challenged the Partition Order.

An order is a final judgment if there is no further act that must be done by a court prior to a determination of the rights of the parties. *Hooper v. Rockwell*, 334 S.C. 281, 513 S.E.2d 358 (1999). "In other words, a final judgment is one that operates to divest some right in such a manner

⁶ The date of recording of the Deed into Hammel is July 7, 2015, not July 17, 2015 as set out in Appellant's Brief.

as to put it beyond the power of the Court making the order to place the parties in their original condition after the expiration of the term; that is, it must put the case out of Court, and must be final in all matters within the pleadings.” *Good v. Hartford Acc. & Indem. Co.*, 201 S.C. 32, 21 S.E.2d 209, 212 (1942). Although the Partition Order contains provisions incident to its administration and for disposition of the proceeds of the sale, it is conclusive as to all matters that were, up until then, at issue between the parties. As an analogy, the case of *Bartles v. Livingston*, 282 S. C. 448, 319 S.E.2d 707 (Ct. App. 1984) supports the proposition that an order for foreclosure and sale constitutes a “final judgment,” even if the sale has yet to occur and the amount of the deficiency remains uncertain. The Court of Appeals held in *Bartles* that a decree of foreclosure and a finding that a party is entitled to a deficiency constitutes a final adjudication thereof, and unless an appeal is taken of the foreclosure order, the lower court’s findings as to the debt are binding in any subsequent proceedings between the parties. *Id.*

The Partition Order was the Master in Equity’s final determination of the issues among the parties. Appellant believes that Order is void because of extrinsic fraud and the Master in Equity’s lack of jurisdiction. How he reacted, or failed to react, to that final order is the issue before the Court on appeal.

C. Appellant’s claims are barred by the doctrine of laches.

In his argument to this Court, Appellant offers no reason for his delay between the issuance of the Remittitur of the Partition Action on March 10, 2014, and the filing of this action on July 31, 2018, more than four years later. Similarly, Appellant offered no reason for the delay in his Complaint, in any filing with the Lower Court, or at the summary judgment hearing [*Order Granting Summary Judgment to Hammel*, ¶ 36].

It is clear that Appellant knew of the Partition Order based on the fact that he filed and argued the Motion to Reconsider and from the Supreme Court's subsequent dismissal of his appeal. Appellant argued the same positions in his Motion to Reconsider as those he set out in his Complaint. Appellant knew everything he set out in his Complaint when he filed his Motion to Reconsider, but he decided to wait for over four and one half (4 ½) years to bring his challenge.

During that delay many parties relied on the finality of the Partition Order. Hammel purchased the property for \$385,000.00 on June 23, 2015, and the proceeds of the sale were disbursed to the parties. [*Partition Deed*]. Some of those funds were disbursed to pay for Appellant's obligations. [*Partition Order*]. The Partition Plaintiffs noted the payment of Appellant's obligations under the Partition Order by filing the Satisfaction of Judgment. Hammel held the Property for almost three years, combined it with other real property in Beaufort County, and sold it to DMS Funding I, LLC for \$1,242,000.00 on May 22, 2018. [*Deed Hammel to DMS*].

By Appellant's own admission, he learned that Hammel purchased the Property at some point in August 2015. App. Brief, p. 7. Yet, Appellant waited an additional three (3) years to attack the order authorizing the Partition Deed.

Appellant directs this Court's attention to *Robinson* this issue. Hammel agrees that *Robinson* is helpful precedent. After establishing that the doctrine of laches should be considered in determining if a claim based on extrinsic fraud is time-barred, *Robinson* holds "[t]he equitable doctrine of laches is defined as 'neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence to do what in law should have been done.'" *Robinson*, 389 S.C. at 370, 698 S.E.2d at 807 (citing *Hallums v. Hallums*, 296 S.C. 195, 198, 372 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1988)). The *Robinson* court further states, "[u]nder the doctrine of laches, if a party, knowing his rights, does not seasonably assert them, but by unreasonable delay causes his

adversary to incur expenses or enter into obligations or otherwise detrimentally change his position, then equity will ordinarily refuse to enforce those rights.” *Id.* at 372, 698 S.E. 2d at 807 (citing *Chambers of S.C., Inc. v. County Council for Lee County*, 315 S.C. 418, 421, 434 S.E. 2d 279, 280 (1993)). After announcing these principles, the *Robinson* court outlined the elements required to establish laches: “(1) a delay, (2) that was unreasonable under the circumstances, and (3) prejudice.” *Id.*

McDaniel dictates that the reasonable time determination “is a matter addressed to the trial judge’s sound discretion, and an appellate court will not disturb that determination absent abuse of discretion.” *McDaniel*, 324 S.C. at 644, 478 S.E. 2d at 871 (citing *Coleman v. Dunlap*, 306 S.C. 491, 494, 413 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1992)). Here, the Lower Court determined that Appellant’s delay in challenging the Partition Order was greater than four (4) years, was unreasonable in that it was without explanation and with full knowledge, and that it prejudiced Hammel. Appellant’s only challenge to these findings is that he should be allowed to assert his claims at any time without regard to the doctrine of laches or any statute of limitations.

Appellant has provided no reason for this Court to disturb the Lower Court’s application of the doctrine of laches. The Order Granting Summary Judgment to Hammel should be affirmed.

III. Appellant’s claims are barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

Although he mentions the terms estoppel and collateral estoppel in his Statement of Issues on Appeal and in his argument headings, Appellant never articulates any error in the Lower Court’s finding that his Complaint is barred by the operation of collateral estoppel within the body of his argument. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR, requires that Appellant set forth a concise and direct statement of each issue on appeal. The rule precludes “[b]road general statements,” which “may be disregarded by the appellate court.” Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR. “Every ground of appeal

ought to be so distinctly stated that the reviewing court may at once see the point which it is called upon to decide without having to ‘grope in the dark’ to ascertain the precise point at issue.” *Forest Dunes Assocs. v. Club Carib, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 87, 89, 390 S.E.2d 368, 370 (Ct.App.1990).

Pursuant to the two issue rule, Appellant’s failure to appeal that portion of the Lower Court’s decision finding that Appellant’s claims are barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel makes that ruling the law of the case. *See Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) (abrogated on other grounds by *Repko v. Cty. of Georgetown*, 424 S.C. 494, 818 S.E.2d 743 (2018)) (“Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.”).

If this Court determines that Appellant has adequately assigned error to the Lower Court’s collateral estoppel ruling, Hammel urges the Court to conclude that Appellant has abandoned the issue. *First Savings Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. at 363, 444 S.E. 2d at 514.

Even in the absence of such a conclusion, the Lower Court’s ruling should be affirmed. It is clear that the issues raised by Appellant in the Complaint were fully resolved in the Partition Action. These matters were fully litigated by Appellant, a fact that is apparent from a review of the pleadings in the Partition Action, Appellant’s attendance at hearings and trial, the Motion to Reconsider, and his effort to appeal the Partition Order. All of the issues raised by Appellant in this action were actually litigated and directly determined in the Partition Action and were necessary to support the Partition Order. *See Beall v. Doe*, 281 S.C. 363, 371, 315 S.E.2d 186, 191 (Ct. App. 1984) (stating the party asserting collateral estoppel “must show that the issue was actually litigated and directly determined in the prior action and that the matter or fact directly in

issue was necessary to support the first judgment”). Therefore, the doctrine of collateral estoppel stands as a bar to the relief demanded by the Appellant in this action.

Appellant decided not to join the other parties to the Partition Action in this action. Instead, he chose to attack the partition sale purchaser and the attorney who represented the Partition Plaintiffs. However, the doctrine of collateral estoppel does not require mutuality of the parties in the actions compared. South Carolina recognizes non-mutual collateral estoppel. *Id.* at 370, 315 S.E.2d at 190.

There is authority for the position that collateral estoppel will not serve as a bar to an attack on a judgment as being void because of extrinsic fraud. *See Mr. G v. Mrs. G*, 320 S.C. 305, 465 S.E. 2d 101 (Ct. App. 1995); *Evans v. Gunter*, 294 S.C. 525, 366 S.E.2d 44 (Ct. App. 1988); *Arnold v. Arnold*, 285 S.C. 296, 328 S.E.2d 924 (Ct. App. 1985). However, in those matters, the fraudulent conduct was not actually litigated in the action presented as the bar to the subsequent action. Where the extrinsic fraud is raised and addressed in the first action, collateral estoppel may serve to bar the same claim of extrinsic fraud in a second action. *Melton v. Melton*, 229 S.C. 85, 91 S.E.2d 873 (1956). Here, Appellant raised his extrinsic fraud claims to the court in the Partition Action through his Answer to the First Amended Complaint, by his arguments at trial, and on his challenges raised through the Motion to Reconsider the Partition Order. Because Appellant actually litigated his claims of extrinsic fraud, the doctrine of collateral estoppel bars Appellant from litigating the same claims again.

For the myriad of reasons stated, the Lower Court’s determination that Appellant’s causes of action are barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel should be affirmed.

IV. Appellant’s constitutional due process rights were not violated.

Appellant seeks to recover his interest in the Property. He did not want to sell his interest in the Property and he has challenged his sisters' efforts to pursue their partition rights as co-tenants at every opportunity and with vengeance. Appellant's constitutional challenges to the Partition Order (Appellant's Arguments V and VI) are additional examples of Appellant's misguided revenge.

The only mention of a constitutional challenge in the Complaint is found in Appellant's "Third Cause of Action (Due Process Violations)". [*Complaint*, ¶¶ 21-31]. In that Cause of Action, he enunciates the due process violations of his rights under the South Carolina Constitution as: (1) the trial judge's failure to follow the law of the case; (2) Bell's placement of documents in the record of the case that were not in evidence; (3) Bell's *ex parte* submission of a proposed order after the trial; and (4) not being served with a copy of the Partition Order. [*Complaint*, ¶¶ 21-31]. From a comprehensive reading of the Complaint, it is apparent that Appellant's allegation that the Master-in-Equity failed to follow the law is a challenge to the manner of the sale that is set out in the Partition Order. Although there is nothing in the record to support Appellant's memory, he recalls that the Circuit Court ruled, at a motions hearing prior to trial, that Partition Plaintiffs could only proceed with a request for the relief of a public partition sale of the Property, and that became the law of the case.

In his written response to the Motions for Summary Judgment, Appellant made only vague references to due process violations under the South Carolina Constitution. [*Appellant's Affidavit in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment*]. When Appellant argued against the Summary Judgment motions, he raised, for the first time, violations of his rights under the United States Constitution. [*Transcript of Hearing, June 10, 2019, p. 8, ll. 2-10*]. That argument was also vague, only referring generally to the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution.

Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal with the Supreme Court and represented that the appeal involved a constitutional challenge to a state statute. [*Appellant's October 2, 2019 Letter filing the Notice of Appeal*]. In response to the Notice of Appeal, the Clerk of the Supreme Court asked Appellant to explain the reference to the constitutional challenge, in that his review of the orders appealed did not reveal a ruling by the Lower Court on a constitutional challenge to a state statute. [*Letter from Clerk of Court to Appellant dated October 8, 2019*]. Appellant responded with a Brief on Venue filed October 18, 2019, and a second Brief on Venue file October 22, 2019.⁷ In those Briefs on Venue, Appellant, for the first time, identified S.C. Code Ann, § 14-11-160 (2017) as the subject of his constitutional challenge. [*First Brief on Venue; Second Brief on Venue*]. Appellant argues that the Master in Equity applied § 14-11-160 in the Partition Action to deny his property rights guaranteed by the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution. He also claimed that Bell's extrinsic fraud deprived him of those rights.

Appellant continues the same argument concerning § 14-11-160 in his Brief to this Court. App. Brief p. 19. However, simply inserting the word "constitutional" into a challenge does not make it so. Appellant fails to clearly articulate any constitutional challenge to the Partition Order or to the procedure in the Partition Action. For that reason alone, this Court should determine that Appellant has abandoned any constitutional challenge. *First Savings Bank v. McLean*. However, even picking out the hints that Appellant offers as to what his argument could be, it is clear that he presents no viable constitutional challenge here.

First, it is uncertain whether Appellant's claims point to procedural or substantive due

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